IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

DEAN KENNETH ROCKMORE,)
Appellant,	
VS.) CASE NO. SC 12-577) L.T. Case No. 5D10-1898
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellee.)))

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHRYN ROLLISON RADTKE ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 0656331 444 Seabreeze Boulevard, Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 254-3758 radtke.kathryn@pd7.org COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

3

Petitioner was the defendant and respondent was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Volusia County. On appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, petitioner was the appellant and respondent was the appellee. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court, except that respondent may also be referred to as "the state," and petitioner may sometimes be referred to by his name. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record on appeal:

"R" - Court records, transcript of sentencing, and pleadings, Volume 1, pp. 1-126. "T" - Transcript of the trial, Vol's. 1 and 2, pp. 1-331.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case is before the Court pursuant to the Fifth District Court having acknowledged conflict with <u>Peterson v. State</u>, 24 So. 3d 686 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009), disagreeing with its conclusion. <u>Rockmore v. State</u>, 37 Fla. L. Weekly D 533 (Attached as Appendix A).

Petitioner was charged, by third amended Information, with the offense of robbery with a firearm. (R 55) The Information further alleges that he was previously convicted of theft in nine cases. (R 55) This case proceeded to trial on April 14, 2010, before the Honorable Margaret Hudson, Circuit Judge. (T 1-331)

Stephen Arnold was a loss prevention associate at the DeLand Wal-mart in

March of 2009. (T 64-65) He recalled when Petitioner entered the store, his attention was drawn to him because he appeared nervous. (T 66) He then followed the petitioner to the men's department, where he saw him place T-shirts in his jacket and socks inside his pants. (T 68) Mr. Arnold then saw petitioner pass the registers, so he approached him. (T 71) He identified himself to Mr. Rockmore, explained why he was stopping him, and stated that he had to talk to him for a few moments. (T 73) The petitioner took off on foot. (T 74) Mr. Arnold gave chase, without losing sight of him. (T 76) As they entered the nearby Hibbett Sports parking lot, Mr. Arnold told him to return but he refused. (T 77) At that point, the petitioner's jacket came unzipped and Mr. Arnold tugged at it, causing the shirts to fall out. (T 77-78) Mr. Rockmore told him, "there's your merchandise ... I'm not going to come with you." (T 78) Mr. Arnold was not done with him because he believed Appellant still had the socks and he needed to obtain his information. (T 78-79) The petitioner headed to a car parked behind Tire Kingdom. (T 79) Mr. Arnold followed and again tried to convince him to return to the Wal-mart, and that's when he said Appellant lifted his shirt to display a gun and responded, "you don't want none." (T 80) He saw a handle and the cylinder of a revolver. (T 94)

£

The merchant backed off, as Petitioner got in the back seat of the car and left. (T 83) the socks were not recovered, although the shirts and the petitioner's

jacket were. (T 83-84) The next day, police had Mr. Arnold view a photo line-up, and he selected Mr. Rockmore's photo. (T 85, 195)

5

Cleveland Wilson was in the company of Dean Rockmore on March 29, 2009. (T 127) Although he testified for the State, he said no one had offered him a deal in exchange for his testimony. (T 129) He was with Myra Taylor that evening. (T 129) Mr. Rockmore asked them for a ride to Wal-mart, and offered to pay for the ride. (T 130) They dropped him off at the store and continued to the Hot Spot. (T 130) They later returned to the Wal-mart. (T 130) He saw the petitioner coming between a bank and a tire store, with another gentleman briskly walking behind him. (T 131) They came up to the car, and he saw petitioner lift his shirt and tell the guy, "You don't want none of this." (T 132) Mr. Wilson saw something silver, but could not say what it was. (T 133) He drove Petitioner back to the convenience store where he had picked him up. (T 133) Mr. Wilson was not charged with anything relative to the offense in this case. (T 147)

Attorney James Disinger, who represented Mr. Wilson, confirmed that he had faced an unrelated charge, but was not offered anything to induce his testimony in the case at bar. (T 149)

Officer Florence arrested Petitioner on a warrant for armed robbery on April 1, 2009. (T 154) He questioned Mr. Rockmore after reading Miranda rights and

warnings to him. (T 156-157) The witness indicated that the petitioner admitted to shoplifting, but said that he dropped the clothing outside and denied robbing anyone. (T 158-159)

Defense counsel requested a special jury instruction on the theory of abandonment. (T 173) The request was granted, however the court added the words: "and the victim was aware" (of the abandonment). (T 253) The petitioner objected to the court's addition. (T 253) He also objected to the court's use of the word "voluntary." (T 250-251)

At the close of the state's case, the petitioner moved for a judgment of acquittal. (T 208-211) He argued that the items taken were abandoned, as evidenced by his words to the merchant, and so no robbery had been proved. (T 208-216) The motion was denied, because the trial court felt the conflicts in the testimony were part of the factual determination to be made by the jury. (T 216-217)

Myra Taylor indicated she has known Mr. Rockmore for a long time, and saw him get in the car on the evening of March 29, 2009. (T 223-225) She did not see a gun. (T 225) He told her he had stolen shirts and socks from Wal-mart, but they fell when he was running. (T 226)

The petitioner testified that he had stolen the shirts and socks, and ran out of

the store. (T 229) He stated that the "security guy" threatened to kill him if he didn't return the merchandise. (T 229-230) The socks dropped as he ran, and he dropped the shirts as well, asking Mr. Arnold to give him a break. (T 230) He denied having carried or displayed a gun. (T 233) He denied robbing or threatening anyone with a gun. (T 235)

In closing, defense counsel argued that the petitioner was guilty of petit theft and resisting a merchant. (T 297)

On the issue of abandonment, the trial court instructed the jury as follows: "If you find that the defendant took the merchandise without any use of force and had completely and voluntarily abandoned the property before he used any force and the victim was aware of such abandonment, then you should find the defendant not guilty of robbery with a firearm." (T 308) Petitioner had previously objected to the use of the word 'voluntary' and the phrase 'and the victim was aware of such abandonment,' and been overruled.(T 250-251, 253) The jury was instructed on the lesser-included offenses of petit theft and resisting a merchant, however the jury was not instructed that Appellant could be found guilty of both offenses. (T 311-313, 304-321)No objection was made on this ground. (T 168-191; 305-325) Both abandonment and guilt of the lesser-included offenses of petit theft and resisting a merchant were argued as defenses. (T 297, 208-211)

The jury returned a verdict of guilt as to robbery with a firearm, and made a special finding that Petitioner was in actual possession of the firearm. (T 326; R76-77) Following the verdict, the prosecutor announced that he would be seeking to have the petitioner sentenced as a prison releasee reoffender. (T 329)

Thereafter, the State filed a notice of intent to rely on business records, consisting of Florida Department of Corrections records pertaining to the petitioner. (R 78)

Sentencing took place on May 21, 2010. (R 1-36) Petitioner had no objection to the introduction of the certified documents, which were under seal, from the Department of Corrections. (R 5) Deputy Furse took Petitioner's fingerprints on October 6, 2009, and he identified Mr. Rockmore in court as the person whose prints he took. (R 7-8) Mary Seney, a fingerprint technician, compared the October 6, 2009 print card with the certified prints from a July 2004 case. (R 12) In her opinion, both sets of fingerprints belong to Mr. Rockmore. (R 14) The trial court found the petitioner to qualify as a prison releasee reoffender, and sentenced him as such, to life in prison without possibility of parole. (R 33-34, 113-118)

A Notice of Appeal was timely filed. (R 122) The Office of the Public

Defender was appointed to represent Petitioner for purposes of appeal. (R 125)

On appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, petitioner raised two issues:

that the trial court erred in denying his motion for judgment of acquittal on the charge of robbery where the use of force was too remote from the taking to support that conviction, and that the trial court erred in giving an improper jury instruction on the defense of abandonment over petitioner's objection, and for these arguments he relied on <u>Peterson v. State</u>, 24 So. 3d 686 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009) and <u>Longval v. State</u>, 914 So.2d 1098 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005).

The Fifth District affirmed, while acknowledging conflict with the conclusion of the Second District in <u>Peterson</u> that a special instruction on the defense of abandonment is necessary in cases such as this one. <u>Rockmore</u>, at 535.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal on the charge of robbery, where the use of threat of force was too remote from the taking to support the conviction. Further, the court erred because the taking was completed without any use of force and the property was abandoned before any force was employed.

The trial court erred in giving an improper jury instruction relating to a contested issue. The instruction given was confusing on several levels. The standard instruction made no mention of the defense of abandonment, and the Petitioner is entitled to a correct instruction on his theory of defense. The second addition the trial court made to the requested instruction was not suggested by the defense and was objected to. Further, the court failed to instruct the jury that they could find Appellant guilty of both petit theft and resisting a merchant, although he was entitled to this instruction. The error is not harmless where there exists a reasonable possibility that it contributed to the conviction.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL ON THE CHARGE OF ROBBERY, WHERE THE USE OF FORCE WAS TOO REMOTE FROM THE TAKING TO SUPPORT THE CONVICTION.

Standard of Review

The standard of review for a denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal is that the trial court must not grant such a motion unless there is no legally sufficient evidence on which the trier of fact may base a verdict of guilt. Brewer v. State, 413 So.2d 1217 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). An appellate court reviews the record de novo. State v. Hawkins, 790 So.2d 492 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001).

Argument

Here, the Petitioner was seen taking and concealing T-shirts and socks under his clothing in the store. (T 68) He left without paying, and was chased across two parking lots by a merchant before unzipping his jacket and dropping the shirts when the merchant tugged at his jacket. (T 71-78) At that point, Mr. Rockmore told the merchant, "there's your merchandise . . .I'm not going to come with you." (T 78) These constitute the facts of this case concerning abandonment. It was only after this, when the merchant continued to follow him, that the

merchant said Petitioner displayed a gun and told him, "you don't want none of this." (T 78-80, 94, 131-133) No other witness said there was a gun, although the petitioner's ride heard him say "you don't want none of this." (T 132-133) Additionally, he admitted that he had taken the items but consistently stated to contemporaneous witnesses and at trial that he had abandoned the property and threatened no one. (T 158-159, 226, 229-235) Where the taking is completed without any use of force and the property abandoned before any force is employed, there is insufficient evidence to support a robbery conviction. Kimbrough v. State, 788 So.2d 421 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001); Simmons v. State, 551 So.2d 607 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989); Peterson v. State, 24 So.3d 686 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009). A taking of property constitutes a robbery if "in the course of the taking" there is a use of force, violence, assault or putting in fear. § 812.13(1), Fla. Stat.; Peterson v. State, 24 So.3d 686, 688 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009). An act of force is in the course of the taking if the taking and the act of force, violence, assault or putting in fear constitute a continuous series of acts or events. Id., at 688. Where, as here, the property is abandoned prior to the alleged act of force, violence, or putting in fear then the act of force and the act of taking are not part of a continuous series of events. As such, this conviction should be reversed and this cause remanded for the entry of a judgment of guilt on the lesser included offense of petit theft. See

<u>Kimbrough v. State</u>, 788 So.2d 421 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001); <u>Simmons v. State</u>, 551 So.2d 607 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989).

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GIVING AN IMPROPER JURY INSTRUCTION RELATING TO A CONTESTED ISSUE.

Standard of Review

Where a "misleading and confusing jury instruction that did not pertain to evidence presented at trial" is given on the defendant's theory of defense, the error that results is not harmless where there exists a reasonable possibility that it contributed to the conviction. <u>Butler v. State</u>, 493 So.2d 451, 453 (Fla. 1986). An "incomplete and inaccurate instruction on the law is fundamental error where the error relates to the elements of the criminal offense." <u>Hubbard v. State</u>, 751 So.2d 771 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000).

Argument

The Petitioner was tried on a charge of robbery, to which there is the defense of abandonment, and where there is a break in events such that acts are not part of a continuous chain of events, the defendant in such a case is entitled to have the jury properly instructed on the issue of abandonment and that he could be found guilty of both petit theft and resisting a merchant. Peterson v. State, 24 So.3d 686 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009); Longval v. State, 914 So.2d 1098 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); Stuckey v. State, 972 So.2d 918 (Fla. 5th DCA 2008).

In the case at bar, the petitioner requested a special instruction on the theory of abandonment. (T 173) The request was granted in part, however the trial court

modified the instruction over counsel's objection, to add the words: "and the victim was aware" (of the abandonment). (T 253) The petitioner objected to the court's changes and additions to the instruction. (T 250-251, 253) Thereafter, the trial court instructed the jury as follows: "If you find that the defendant took the merchandise without any use of force and had completely and voluntarily abandoned the property before he used any force and the victim was aware of such abandonment, then you should find the defendant not guilty of robbery with a firearm." (T 308) (Emphasis added).

The facts in some cases might require the instruction which the trial court insisted upon, but the facts of the case at bar are that the merchant was very much aware of the property being abandoned since he witnessed the petitioner's jacket coming unzipped, the shirts falling out, and heard Mr. Rockmore say, "there's your merchandise ...I'm not going to come with you." The petitioner's words, "there's your merchandise" confirmed the abandonment of the offense of theft which the merchant had just witnessed. Petitioner's actions in dropping the merchandise and the words he spoke to the merchant constitute a break in the series of acts or events. As a result, the court's change to the instruction was confusing, did not apply to the defense, and added an element that was not necessary in this case. The trail court's additions were not suggested by the

defense and the petitioner objected to those additions. Whether the victim is aware of property being abandoned is not an element of either the defense of abandonment or the standard instruction for robbery. *See* Peterson v. State, 24 So. 3d 686 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009); and In RE: Standard Jury Instructions, 982 So. 2d 1160, 1169-1172 (Fla. 2008).

The Fifth District, in the case at bar, opines that everything done by petitioner constituted continuous acts because there was no "significant temporal void." Rockmore v. State, 37 Fla. L. Weekly D533, at 535. The robbery statute, § 812.13, does not speak of any "significant temporal void." Section 812.13, Florida Statutes. The cases which speak to the defense of abandonment simply refer to a break in a series of events, such as abandonment of stolen property – and with it, the intent to steal – prior to any struggle or threat. Peterson v. State, 24 So. 3d 686 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009); Baker v. State, 540 So. 2d 847 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); and Simmons v. State, 551 So. 2d 607 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989). As in those cases, here the petitioner's act of taking in this case was separated from any act of force by the act of abandonment. Once the merchandise was abandoned, then any subsequent refusal to return to the store with the merchant was not a part of the taking, and does not elevate the crime of petit theft to a robbery.

The Fifth District's opinion in this case concludes that the petitioner's act of

abandonment of the property was probably not voluntary. <u>Peterson</u>, at D535. In fact, the petitioner apparently unzipped his jacket in order to abandon the property as the merchant touched his jacket. (T 77-78) He also told the merchant, "there's your merchandise," indicating evidence of voluntary renunciation of theft. (T 78)

An appropriate instruction would have been: "If it is established that the property was abandoned prior to the use of force then you must find the defendant not guilty of a robbery." Peterson v. State, 24 So.3d 686, 689 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009). That case involved the same defense theory as does this one, that is, it focused on that part of the robbery statute requiring the element of an act of force and the act of taking constitute a continuous series of acts or events. Id., at 688. The discretion of a trial court in the matter of jury instructions is "fairly narrow" because a defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on his theory of defense if any evidence supports this theory, so long as the theory is valid under Florida law. Id., at 690.

The Fifth District, in its opinion below, concluded that the petitioner was not entitled to the instruction requested, in part, because that court felt the defense was already covered in the standard instruction. Rockmore v. State, 37 Fla. L. Weekly D 533, at 534. The standard jury instruction for robbery, 15.1, contains no mention of the defense of abandonment; indeed, the word 'abandonment' is found

nowhere in the standard instruction. <u>In Re: Standard Jury Instructions</u>, 982 So. 2d 1160, 1169-1172 (Fla. 2008). The petitioner was entitled to have the jury properly instructed on his theory of defense, i.e. abandonment. <u>Peterson v. State</u>, 24 So. 3d 686 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009).

It is recognized that Petitioner objected to the proposed instruction during the charge conference, where it was overruled, but did not renew the objection when the instructions were given. (T 250-251, 253; 305-325) Where the court has ruled on an issue, the law does not require a useless or futile act. Plaza v. State, 699 So.2d 289 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997); Young v. State, 664 So.2d 1144 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); Howard v. State, 616 So.2d 484 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); Davis v. State, 832 So.2d 239 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002).

The Fifth District Court of Appeals has held that "an incomplete and inaccurate instruction on the law is fundamental error where the error relates to the elements of the criminal offense." <u>Hubbard v. State</u>, 751 So.2d 771, 772 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). The trial court in <u>Hubbard</u> had affirmatively misinstructed on the elements of both the offense reflected in the verdict and the elements of a lesser included offense. Where, as here, a "misleading and confusing jury instruction that did not pertain to any evidence presented at trial" is given on the defendant's theory of defense, the error that results is not harmless where "there exists a

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