Electronically Filed 04/11/2013 01:48:29 PM ET

RECEIVED, 4/11/2013 13:53:35, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEAN KENNETH ROCKMORE,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC12-577

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

PAMELA J. KOLLER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #0775990

WESLEY HEIDT DAYTONA BEACH BUREAU CHIEF CRIMINAL APPEALS Florida Bar No. 0773026 444 Seabreeze Boulevard 5th Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 FAX: (386)238-4997 crimappdab@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

Here, Petitioner requested a special jury instruction on abandonment which stated that if the jury finds Petitioner abandoned the property before he used force, the jury cannot find that his use of force in the act of taking constituted a continuous series of acts or events and Petitioner must be found not guilty of robbery. The State objected. The issue was deferred until later. During a recess, the issue was brought up again and the State agreed Petitioner could argue in closing about the defense of abandonment, but objected to a special jury instruction, arguing that the standard jury instruction adequately covered the law. The

judge disagreed with the State and advised the attorneys that Petitioner's proposed instruction had been rewritten by the court. The judge had reviewed case law on abandonment and concluded that the issue was the voluntariness of the abandonment. The court found it to be a factual question for the jury to decide whether Petitioner voluntarily abandoned the property and whether it was a complete abandonment. The court's first draft read: "If you find that the defendant took the merchandise without any force and had completely and voluntarily abandoned the property before he used force, you should find him not guilty of robbery with a firearm, deadly weapon, or weapon." (T251, Vol I). The State argued that robbery involves the perception of the victim and asked what if the victim was unaware of the abandonment.

The judge agreed that a well-founded fear in the mind of the victim is an element of robbery and that is why the court believed that abandonment does not apply to the crime of robbery. The court explained that while the defense of abandonment would address the use of force, it did not address all of the elements of robbery. The State suggested that the instruction could include a line about the victim being aware of the abandonment. Petitioner argued that the victim had testified that Petitioner had stated to the victim had testified that one of the items was dropped, but that would go to the voluntariness of the abandonment. The court agreed to include a line regarding the victim's knowledge of the abandonment,

which Petitioner objected to for the record. The judge then read the revised instruction:

If you find that the defendant took the merchandise without any use of force and had completely and voluntarily abandoned the property before he used any force and the victim was aware of such abandonment, you should find the defendant not guilty of robbery with a firearm, deadly weapon, or weapon.

(T253-254, Vol II). This same instruction was given to the jury by the court. Accordingly, unlike Peterson, who requested but did not receive a special jury instruction on abandonment, Petitioner can only complain that the special instruction he requested was modified by the trial court.

At trial, Petitioner testified the socks fell out by themselves before he threw down the T-shirts and Petitioner's own witness testified that Petitioner told her that the property dropped out while he was running away from the store's loss prevention agent. These facts reveal that, unlike the appellant in <u>Peterson</u>, 24 So. 3d at 688, who claimed to have dispossessed himself of all of the stolen property into his shopping basket before using force to flee, Petitioner never voluntarily dispossessed himself of all of the stolen property. Clearly, dumping or losing stolen property while being pursued by a store's loss prevention officer should not and does not constitute a complete and voluntary renunciation of a criminal purpose and, thus, Petitioner was not entitled to an abandonment defense

instruction. <u>Carroll v. State</u>, 680 So. 2d at 1066 ("In the present case the evidence showed involuntary abandonment, not voluntary abandonment. After an encounter with a uniformed police officer in the K-Mart store, defendant waited until the officer walked away and then commenced to unload from his duffle bag two power drills, still in the original boxes, which he had taken from store inventory kept in an "employees only" storage closet. The requested jury instruction was properly refused"); <u>see also Andrade v. State</u>, 564 So. 2d 238, 239 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) ("[T]he defendant's requested jury instruction on the defense of abandonment was properly denied because there was no evidence adduced at trial to support such a defense and the proposed instruction was otherwise incomplete and misleading.").

Based on the facts of this case, Petitioner was not entitled to an abandonment defense instruction since he never voluntarily dispossessed himself of all of the property. Moreover, by requesting and receiving a special jury instruction on a defense he was not entitled to, he either invited any error or it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See Etheridge v. State, 415 So. 2d 864, 2d DCA 1982) ("The trial court's instruction 865 (Fla. on abandonment erroneously gave the jury the opportunity to consider Etheridge's abandonment as a legitimate defense to conspiracy. The jury refused to acquit even with this erroneous instruction. Accordingly, we affirm the convictions and sentences of both appellants."); see also Bass v. State, 58 Fla. 1, 50 So. 2d 531,

533 (Fla. 1909)(denying claim for relief based upon court's modification of requested special instruction because requested instruction was clearly erroneous). As such, the Fifth District Court properly held that Petitioner was not entitled to a special instruction based on the facts in this case and, since he received an instruction, any modification that constituted error was invited or harmless.

Should this Court wish to address the issue raised in <u>Rockmore</u>'s dicta regarding the abandonment defense in the context of a robbery charge, it is the State's position that this Court should adopt the interpretation set forth in the <u>Rockmore</u> opinion. As the Fifth District Court's opinion reveals, characterizing the abandonment of property as the abandonment defense in the context of a robbery is a misnomer.³ This misnamed defense was first presented in <u>State v. Baker</u>, 540 So. 2d 847 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), and <u>Simmons v. State</u>, 551 So. 2d 607 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), which were issued two years after the robbery statute was modified in 1987. In <u>Baker</u>, the district court affirmed the dismissal of a robbery charge where the evidence revealed that the property was taken without the use of force, the property was abandoned after the appellant realized security guards were watching him, and force was used to flee. <u>Id.</u> at 848. Nine months later, the Fifth District

 $^{^{3}}$ As the <u>Rockmore</u> court noted, the abandonment of property refers to the relinquishment of an owner's right to property, and a thief cannot abandon property he or she does not own. <u>Id.</u> at D536 n.2.

Court, relying upon <u>Baker</u>, disapproved the denial of a motion to dismiss a robbery charge where the evidence revealed that the property was taken without force, the defendant was escorted back into the store by store employees where, once inside, she threw the property to the floor, and then struggled with employees as they attempted to escort her to the store's security office. Simmons v. State, 551 So. 2d at 608. The district courts in Baker and Simmons concluded that because the use of force was not a part of a continuous series of acts or events involved with the taking of the property, the evidence could not sustain a robbery conviction. In other words, an abandonment of the stolen property broke the chain of events precluding a robbery conviction. The Rockmore court easily distinguished Baker and Simmons, since, here, the merchandise dropped from Petitioner's person when his jacket was grabbed by the loss prevention officer, whereas in Baker and Simmons, the appellants put the property back or threw it down, respectively, upon being noticed or caught by authorities.

In <u>Peterson</u>, the appellant was observed by Dollar General Store personnel putting items from the socks and underwear aisle into the waistband of his pants. <u>Id.</u> at 688. The police were called, and the store's door secured. <u>Id.</u> However, before the police arrived, appellant approached the door, left his shopping basket, and forced his way out of the store by pushing the employee aside. <u>Id.</u> He then escaped in a car that pulled up to the front of the store. <u>Id.</u> Peterson contended he had abandoned the property

into his shopping basket before fleeing the store, so that the act of taking and use of force were not a continuous series of acts or events. <u>Id.</u> In reversing the conviction, the Second District Court found, *inter alia*, that the appellant was entitled to a special instruction requested by the defense which read: "If it is established that the property was abandoned prior to the use of force then you must find the Defendant not guilty of robbery." <u>Id.</u> at 689. This is similar to the instruction requested by Petitioner.

Here, the alleged abandonment of the property occurred during Petitioner's flight from the loss prevention officer, even accepting Petitioner's version of events that losing the socks and throwing the T-shirts while being chased by the loss prevention officer constituted an abandonment. However, there was no break in the continuous series of acts or events beginning with the unlawful taking of the items, the flight from the store and from the loss prevention officer, the dropping of the T-shirts, and ending with the display of the gun. Thus, Petitioner was not entitled to a special instruction on abandonment, especially an instruction as approved by <u>Peterson</u> which would allow a defendant to go free simply through serendipity that the property dropped as the defendant was being grabbed or apprehended, followed by the use of force.

The interpretation or application of the so-called abandonment defense found in <u>Baker</u>, <u>Simmons</u>, and <u>Peterson</u> ignores both the plain language of both the robbery statute and the abandonment

defense. As to the robbery statute, it erroneously focuses on the defendant's possession of the stolen property rather than whether there was a "continuous series of acts or events." In <u>Baker</u>, Simmons, Peterson, and herein, the theft of the property was completed at the time of the so-called abandonment, since theft is defined as the taking of property to either temporarily or permanently deprive the owner of his benefit from or use of the property. The question then arises regarding where the line is drawn and does any amount of time have to elapse between the "abandonment" of the property and the use of force or can the two occur simultaneously? For example, a defendant and his friend steal DVD's at a store and, during the use of force out in the parking lot, the stolen items fall out of the defendant's clothing. The defendant in that case argued that he was not guilty of robbery for the simple reason that the force used was only to escape and not to maintain possession of the property. Stuckey v. State, 972 So. 2d 918, 920 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007). Would that entitle Stuckey to an abandonment instruction under Baker, Simmons, and Peterson since his intent in the use of force, according to the defendant, was only to escape and not to maintain possession of the property?

Most glaringly, the <u>Peterson</u> instruction ignores the law regarding the abandonment defense, which requires that any abandonment be voluntary, meaning not done to avoid detection or capture, and complete, meaning the commission of the crime is not simply delayed until a more fortuitous time. In <u>Baker</u>, <u>Simmons</u>, and

<u>Peterson</u>, the appellants' dispossession of the property was not voluntary in that it occurred after the appellants were discovered by either store personnel or security and to facilitate flight rather than manifesting a complete and voluntary renunciation of his or her criminal purpose. As such, there was no lawful abandonment as that defense requires. <u>See Carroll v. State</u>, 680 So. 2d at 1066; <u>see also Andrade v. State</u>, 564 So. 2d 238, 239 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990).

The abandonment defense logically requires voluntariness. If a potential robber does voluntarily renounce or abandon his or her intent to commit the crime of robbery through dispossession of the stolen property, the "abandonment" must be because of the independent determination to abandon the intent to commit the crime, rather than discovery by store personnel or security. Moreover, a true abandonment or renunciation would not be immediately followed by an attempt to flee along with the willingness to use force or threats to facilitate the escape. The willingness to flee and employ force or threats in order to make the escape demonstrates there has been no abandonment or renunciation of his or her criminal purpose.

Accordingly, the interpretation and application of the abandonment defense in <u>Baker</u> and <u>Simmons</u>, and as manifested in the jury instruction in <u>Peterson</u>, are legally erroneous, as correctly pointed out in dicta by the Fifth District Court. The focus should be on whether there was a continuous series of acts or events,

rather than the robber's self-serving action in divesting himself or herself of possession of the property in order to facilitate an escape or flight after discovery by store personnel or security.

Based on the foregoing, as the <u>Peterson</u> and <u>Rockmore</u> opinions are factually distinguishable and the language in <u>Rockmore</u> finding conflict with <u>Peterson</u> regarding the necessity of the abandonment instruction is pure dicta, there is no direct and express conflict on the face of the opinions. Moreover, the Fifth District Court's decision in this case that Petitioner was not entitled to a special jury instruction on abandonment and the modifications made by the trial judge were either proper or constituted invited or harmless error at worst, should be affirmed. Additionally, if this Court chooses to address the dicta regarding the legally erroneous interpretation and application of the abandonment defense in Peterson, this Court should adopt the interpretation that, as applied to the crime of robbery, the proper focus should be on whether the defendant's actions were all part of a continuous series of acts or events and not whether the property was abandoned, discarded, or dropped.

POINT II (RESTATED)

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE DENIAL OF THE MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL.

Petitioner also contends the Fifth District Court of Appeal improperly affirmed the trial court's denial of his motion for judgment of acquittal. It is well established that in reviewing a motion for judgment of acquittal, a de novo standard of review applies. See Pagan v. State, 830 So. 2d 792, 803 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 539 U.S. 919 (2003). Generally, an appellate court will not reverse a conviction that is supported by competent, substantial evidence. See Pagan, 830 So. 2d at 803. There is sufficient evidence to sustain a conviction if, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find the existence of the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. See Banks v. State, 732 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 1999). Or, in other words, the general rule established in Lynch v. State, 293 So. 2d 44, 45 (Fla. 1974), is that "courts should not grant a motion for judgment of acquittal unless the evidence is such that no view which the jury may lawfully take of it favorable to the opposite party can be sustained under the law." See also Gudinas_v. State, 693 So. 2d 953 (Fla. 1997); Barwick v. State, 660 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 1995); <u>DeAngelo v. State</u>, 616 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 1993); <u>Taylor</u> v. State, 583 So. 2d 323 (Fla. 1991).

In moving for a judgment of acquittal, Petitioner argued that the property was abandoned before the threat was made and, thus,

there was no crime of robbery, referring to Mr. Arnold's having stated at his deposition that the socks had fallen out while Petitioner was fleeing. The State responded by reminding the court that Mr. Arnold had Petitioner in his sights the whole time, that this was a continuing course of events, and that the robbery was ongoing from the moment Petitioner ran from the store until the gun was displayed. The court denied the motion finding that there was conflicting testimony which was a jury issue and, in viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the jury could find the existence of the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Petitioner contends the Fifth District Court erred by affirming the trial court's denial of his motion for judgment of acquittal.

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